Case No. 74275

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

GEORGE STUART YOUNT, individually and in
his capacity as owner of GEORGE YOUNT IRA,
Appellant,

vs.

CRISWELL RADOVAN, LLC; CR CAL NEVA, LLC;
ROBERT RADOVAN; WILLIAM CRISWELL;
CAL NEVA LODGE, LLC; POWELL, COLEMAN
AND ARNOLD, LLP; DAVID MARRINER; and
MARRINER REAL ESTATE, LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Mar 05 2019 08:45 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County
The Honorable N. PATRICK FLANAGAN,
The Honorable JEROME POLAHA, and
The Honorable EGAN WALKER, District Judges
District Court Case No. CV16-00767

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376)

JURISDICTION

Plaintiff George Stuart Yount appeals from an order dismissing his claims and awarding damages to defendants William Criswell, Robert Radovan, and David Marriner. Yount timely appealed. (10 App. 2302; *see also* Order on Appellate Jurisdiction, dated Aug. 24, 2018, Doc. No. 18-33097.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal to address the district court's responsibility to correct its own mistakes when it recognizes them rather than leaving an admittedly erroneous decision for correction in the appellate courts. The underlying error in this case—an award of damages to defendants who had no counterclaim—is obvious and unlikely to recur. This case illustrates a troubling tendency, however, for a successor judge to whom a case is reassigned to leave the predecessor's decisions intact, even when the successor recognizes them to be wrong. Although this issue has been touched on in *Insurance Co. of the West v. Gibson Tile Co.*, 122 Nev. 455, 134 P.3d 698 (2006), the recurring problem warrants Supreme Court review. NRAP 17(a)(12).

This case is also a contract case where plaintiff sued for return of

\$1 million and the court awarded defendants \$4.5 million. This is far in excess of the \$75,000 amount under NRAP 17(b)(6) presumed to be a case for the court of appeals.

This case also involves a number of procedural issues never resolved by this Court. Although appellant believes defendants' procedural arguments are meritless, they are an issue of first impression.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. What is the district court's responsibility to correct its own mistakes, through a successor judge, rather than requiring an appeal?
2. May a district court award damages to a defendant solely on the basis of an affirmative defense when the defendant did not plead any counterclaims and did not try any counterclaims by consent?
3. Can a party claim intentional interference with contractual relations without an existing contract (or even the prospect of a contractual relationship) and without any affirmative act of interference?
4. May a district court award damages for intentional interference with contractual relations without evidence of the anticipated profits from the contract?
5. Are the voting rights of a member of an LLC *per se* insub-

stantial, such that an investor, whose membership interest in the LLC is converted to strip those voting rights, has no remedy in tort or contract?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment after bench trial, the Honorable N. Patrick Flanagan, Jerome Polaha, and Egan Walker, District Judges of the Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County, presiding.

Plaintiff George Stuart Yount paid \$1 million for a membership interest in the historic Cal Neva Lodge to finance its renovation. He received neither the paid-for interest nor a refund, though.

When Yount sued, defendants argued that unclean hands barred the claim but did not plead any counterclaims. At trial, defendants confirmed that they asserted no counterclaim. The district court nonetheless dismissed Yount's claims and *sua sponte* awarded \$4.5 million as "damages" to Criswell, Radovan, and Marriner on the affirmative defense of unclean hands.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Project to Renovate the Cal Neva Lodge

Criswell and Radovan Solicit Investors

In 2013 developers William Criswell and Robert Radovan bought the historic Cal Neva Lodge with the intent of renovating and then managing it upon its reopening. (5 App. 1161:13–15; 6 App. 1339:11–24; 6 App. 1345:10–24.) They formed three entities: Cal Neva Lodge, LLC as the entity owning the resort; Criswell Radovan LLC as the development company; and CR Cal Neva, LLC (“CR”) as the management company. (6 App. 1336:1–8, 1338:6–8; 10 App. 2435, Section 8.1.)

Cal Neva Lodge, LLC issued a private placement memorandum soliciting \$20 million in equity investment: each investment would give an investor a “Founder’s Share” stake in the Cal Neva Lodge. (6 App. 1336:10–24; 6 App. 1348:13–16; 10 App. 2426–27, Section 4.3; 5 App. 1169:12–20.)

By February 2014 nearly all of the Founder’s Shares had been sold. (5 App. 1162:19–23, 1163:1–4.) To help find the remaining founding membership investors, Criswell and Radovan hired David Marriner. (5 App. 1162:19–23, 1163:1–4.)

Criswell and Radovan Mismanaged the Project from Inception

Although Criswell and Radovan held themselves out as experienced developers, Yount discovered that the pair mismanaged the project from the beginning. (8 App. 1851:1–15; 7 App. 1752.) Criswell Radovan had to loan the project over \$900,000 to keep it afloat. (7 App. 1769:23–24, 5 App. 1737–9, 1744:4–11.) The project also faced over \$9 million of change orders. (5 App. 1706:3–14.) Eventually, Criswell and Radovan concluded that the project needed a total refinance. (5 App. 1720:1–24.)

Criswell and Radovan concealed their mismanagement by not communicating with investors and inadequately reporting on the status of the project. (5 App. 1738:18–24, 1739:1–6.) Criswell, Radovan, and Marriner inaccurately claimed that the project was fully funded and provided rosy projections and an opening date of December 12, 2015. (5 App. 1736:9–24; 1737:1–10, 1738:9–24; 5 App. 1185:16–19.)

Facing a Budget Shortfall, Marriner Solicits Yount

Facing substantial budget overruns, Cal Neva desperately needed money. (7 App. 1722:12–13; 11 App. 2677.) Criswell and Radovan

asked Marriner to sell the last remaining Founder's Share. (5 App. 1162:19–23, 1163:1–4); 5 App. 1132:24–28.)

Marriner had initially contacted Yount about investing in the Cal Neva in February of 2014. (5 App. 1182:22–24, 1183:1.) Yount was not interested then but kept in sporadic contact with Marriner. (*Id.*) When Yount asked about the project in 2015, Marriner jumped at the opportunity to sell the last Founder's Share and offered to give Yount a tour. (5 App. 1183:22–24, 1184:1–2.)

During the tour, Marriner told Yount that the project was on track to open on December 12, 2015 and also offered Yount the last remaining Founder's Share. (5 App. 1186:18–24; 5 App. 1186:12–15.) Afterwards, Marriner emailed Yount the confidential offering memorandum. (5 App. 1188:5–11; 20 App. 4879.)

Unbeknownst to Yount, at the same time Marriner was also soliciting another investor, Les Busick, to purchase that same share. (7 App. 1729:1–12.)

B. Defendants Convert Yount's Investment
Yount and another Investor Buy the Same Share

Criswell, Radovan, and Marriner quickly realized that both Yount

and Busick agreed to purchase the same share. (5 App. 1226:20–24.)

Rather than inform Yount and Busick of the conflict, however, Marriner and Radovan referred to the situation as the “perfect storm,” a chance for Criswell and Radovan to receive an additional \$1 million rather than leave it invested in Cal Neva Lodge, LLC. (5 App. 1227:1–8.) Radovan instructed Marriner not to mention anything to Yount. (5 App. 1227:7–14.)

Busick’s \$1 million investment came first. (5 App. 1228:1–8.)

Criswell, Radovan, and Marriner never informed Yount that Busick had already purchased the last of the Founder’s Shares. (7 App. 1729:3–11.) So less than two weeks later, Yount signed the same subscription agreement and wired \$1 million to the trust account of Powell Coleman, the escrow agent. (7 App. 1573:3–10.)

Yount’s Money is Converted, without his Knowledge, into a Different Share

Powell Coleman, rather than release Yount’s funds to Cal Neva Lodge, LLC per the wiring instructions, released the funds to Criswell Radovan to cover the \$900,000 it had previously loaned to the project. (7 App. 1574:15–17; 7 App. 1573:7–10.)

Rather than tell Yount what had happened, Criswell and Radovan

treated Yount's purchase of a Founder's Share as the purchase of a different equity interest then owned by CR, the management company. (7 App. 1530:5–16; 6 App. 1331:17–32:9.) The CR share was not a Founder's Share under the private placement memorandum.

The Conversion Violates the Operating Agreement

To ensure transparency and investor oversight, the operating agreement of Cal Neva Lodge, LLC prohibits members from selling their shares without the other members' express approval:

No member may sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of or mortgage, hypothecate or otherwise encumber or per or suffer any encumbrance of all of any part of its interest unless approved in writing by members holding at least 67% of the percentage interest in the company. . . .

(7 App. 1569:6–13; 10 App. 2446–47, Section 12.2.) Otherwise, the sale or transfer is void. (7 App. 1596–97:18–1; 10 App. 2246–47, Section 12.2.) This provision ensures that no individual investor, including CR, could unilaterally divest.

The Conversion Left Yount with a Materially Weakened Investment in a Less Capitalized Entity

Not only was the sale void under the operating agreement, but the share Yount received was materially different from a Founder's Share.

For example, CR’s share did not have voting rights. (10 App. 2448–49, Section 12.6.2.) It gave Yount the bare economic benefits, if any, from the share, but excluded him from oversight, control, or management of Cal Neva Lodge, LLC. (10 App. 2448–49, 12.6.2, Section 12.6.4.) Yount did not have the rights and powers of the other founding members. (10 App. 2449, Section 12.6.3.)

Yount Discovers He Did Not Receive a Founder’s Share

Criswell, Radovan, and Marrnier did not inform Yount or any other investor of the unauthorized “sale” of CR’s share. (5 App. 1240:22–41:9.) Yount later learned that he never received a Founder’s Share under the private placement memorandum (8 App. 1753:1–11), but Radovan and Criswell still did not tell Yount that his money—which was supposed to be directed to capital improvements under the private placement memorandum—had gone to enrich themselves and their company. (6 App. 1413:18–20; 8 App. 1766:2–19.)

Criswell and Radovan Create False Documents to “Paper” the Transaction

Even though the transaction’s documentation was already complete, to cover their tracks, Criswell and Radovan tried to get Yount to

sign falsified documents. (6 App. 1424:8–18.) In February 2016, they sent Yount an additional set of documents back-dated to October 2015 to make it appear as though all along Yount had agreed to buy CR’s share. (8 App. 1760:7–14.) Criswell and Radovan told Yount that *he* had executed the wrong documents. (6 App. 1424:8–18.)

Yount rejected the misleading documents and demanded his money back. (8 App. 1761:4–17.) Criswell and Radovan refused. (8 App. 1764:2–15.)

C. Criswell and Radovan Sink the Project

Over Objections from Investors, Criswell and Radovan Pursue a Risky Loan

While Yount was trying to exit the project, as Yount noted, “the financial wheels” “were coming off.” (7 App. 1738:10–11.) During a member meeting, Radovan proposed refinancing with a loan from Mosaic Real Estate Investors. (7 App. 1612:18–24.) Some of the members, including Cal Neva Lodge’s largest investment group, the Incline Men’s Club (“IMC”), voiced their concerns about debt financing in general and the proposed Mosaic loan in particular. (7 App. 1617:18–21.)

Despite the concerns, Radovan scheduled a meeting with Mosaic. (7 App. 1618:21–22.)

***Mosaic Withdraws a Preliminary Loan Offer
because of Concerns with Mismanagement***

Even though Radovan scheduled a Mosaic meeting, Criswell and Radovan failed to provide Mosaic with information necessary for Mosaic's due diligence. (8 App. 1937:22–1938:7.) Mosaic requested a separate pre-meeting with three members of the Cal Neva Lodge's executive committee, Paul Jameson, Brandon Chaney, and Les Busick. (8 App. 1996:1–4, 20 App. 4937; 8 App. 1996:13–15.) Phil Busick, Les Busick's father and the largest Cal Neva investor, also attended. (*Id.*) Mosaic excluded Criswell and Radovan, the other two members of the executive committee. (10 App. 2477, 8.4; 8 App. 1995:7–24; 8 App. 1996:1–4.)

Yount heard only rumors of the meeting but questioned its legitimacy without Criswell or Radovan's attendance. (8 App. 1755:11–14.) As Yount was not a member with any kind of governance or management control, however, Jameson told Yount that it was none of his business. (20 App. 4937.)

Further, Yount was highly motivated to support the refinancing effort. (8 App. 1922:13–17.) Criswell promised Yount that he would refund his \$1 million as soon as the refinancing was completed. (7 App. 1736:6–22.)

After the pre-meeting, Mosaic told the five members of the executive committee that “there seems to be a little bit of a mess right now” but that once the ownership “figure[d] things out” the executive committee could reintroduce the deal to Mosaic. (20 App. 4939.) Mosaic withdrew its preliminary loan offer to the Cal Neva Lodge. (*Id.*)

Criswell and Radovan were unable to secure financing. The Cal Neva Lodge ultimately filed for bankruptcy.

D. Procedural History

Yount Sues for Damages

Having never received the Founder’s Share he bargained for, Yount sued Criswell, Radovan, Marriner, and Cal Neva Lodge, LLC for breach of the private placement memorandum, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, negligence, conversion, and securities fraud. (1 App. 171–75¶¶ 28-50.) Yount sought compensatory and punitive damages, not equitable relief.

Criswell and Radovan answered and asserted an affirmative defense of unclean hands, a defense to equitable claims. (1 App. 72, pg.8.) In this defense, defendants alleged that Yount and IMC intended to “tank” the Mosaic loan. (*Id.*) They further contended that Yount was in

communication with IMC members, who had expressed their displeasure with the Mosaic loan. (9 App. 2209:3–4.) Criswell and Radovan also alleged that Yount knew the pre-meeting with Mosaic was going to take place but did not warn Criswell or Radovan. (9 App. 2208:15–23.)

Marriner asserted the affirmative defense of independent investigation, in which he alleged that he could not be liable because Yount conducted his own independent investigation before investing. (1 App. 210–11, pgs. 9–10.)

Criswell, Radovan, and Marriner did not assert any counterclaims against Yount or pray for damages.

Defendants Expressly Disclaimed Any Counterclaims or Recovery

Throughout trial defendants conceded they had not brought any counterclaims.

Q. [Mr. Campbell:] Did you file a compulsory counterclaim against Mr. Yount from his lawsuit?

A. [Radovan:] No.

(7 App. 1668:18–20.)

Criswell and Radovan’s counsel, Mr. Little, clarified that defendants were not pursuing any counterclaims but were instead pleading the affirmative defense of unclean hands.

Q. [Mr. Little:] Sir, counsel asked you if you had filed a compulsory counterclaim against Mr. Yount in this litigation. You have through me in the pleading filed an affirmative defense for unclean hands, have you not?

A. [Radovan:] Yes.

(7 App. 1671:17–21.)

In closing, defense counsel further clarified that there was no counterclaim.

MR. LITTLE: * * * And, your Honor, importantly we pled—we haven't sued him for a counterclaim, but we have pled affirmative defenses and whether you call it—

THE COURT: Unclean hands.

MR. LITTLE: Unclean hands, estoppel, waiver, contributory fault, it's all the same failure to mitigate damages, all roads lead to the same path. He put himself in the position he is now. . . .

(9 App. 2210:16–19.)

Judge Flanagan Treats the Affirmative Defense as a Counterclaim

After a seven-day bench trial, Judge Flanagan issued an oral decision against Yount on all claims. (10 App. 2295:13.) To everyone's surprise, the court then awarded *defendants* damages on their affirmative defense of unclean hands. (10 App. 2296:22–24.)

In its oral pronouncement, the district court explained that “defendants’ counterclaim is unclean hands.” (10 App. 2295:13.) The district court stated that “it was the intent of the IMC to kill this loan.” (10 App. 2296:12–15.) The district court further explained that “but for the intentional interference with the contractual relations between Mosaic and Cal Neva, LLC the project would have succeeded.” (10 App. 2295:20–22.) The district court then granted defendants’ unpleaded “counterclaim” and awarded Criswell and Radovan \$1.5 million dollars each. (10 App. 2296:20–21, 2297:1.)

***Still without a Counterclaim,
Defendants are Awarded More Damages***

A week after the oral ruling, the district court issued an amended order awarding another \$1.5 million to Marriner and awarding CR and Criswell Radovan their lost development and management fees. (10 App. 2300.) Yount appealed.

Judge Flanagan Dies

Shortly after the trial and before the preparation of written findings of fact and conclusions or law or a final judgment on damages, Judge Flanagan died. (12 App. 2754.) Although Judge Flanagan made obvious errors in his oral pronouncement, because of his death he did

not have the normal opportunity to examine his oral pronouncement and catch his mistakes when he entered a written order.

Judge Polaha Enters Findings that Simply Mirror Judge Flanagan's Oral Ruling, Shortcomings and All

Before the district court entered any written findings of fact and conclusions of law, Yount repeatedly objected to defendants receiving damages without a counterclaim. (10 App. 2385; 11 App. 2709; 10 App. 2321:4–18.)

Judge Jerome Polaha presided over this case pending the appointment of Judge Flanagan's successor. Judge Polaha rejected defendant's contention that he could rule they had a counterclaim:

MR. LITTLE [defense counsel]: * * * Another alternative for this court would be to look at the objections that have been lodged by Mr. Campbell, review those and make decisions based on the findings based on that. . . .

MR. POLSENBERG [Yount's counsel]: Let me say two things about that second course. First I think that it would be reversible error on its face and second our objections are a lot more than that expressed by Rick.

THE COURT: I agree with you as far as reversible error.

(10 App. 2321:4–18.)

Instead, Judge Polaha entered findings of fact and conclusions of

law that simply mirrored Judge Flanagan’s oral pronouncement, without addressing that defendants lacked a counterclaim.

Consistent with Judge Flanagan’s oral pronouncement, Judge Polaha entered judgment for Criswell, Radovan, and Marriner for \$1.5 million each. (12 App. 2756.)

Defendants Opportunistically Contend They Tried a Counterclaim

After Judge Polaha entered judgment, Yount moved to amend the findings and for a new trial. Defendants opposed Yount’s motion and argued they had a counterclaim all along. (13 App. 3186.)

Yount Would Have Presented Evidence of the Mosaic Executives If There Had Been a Counterclaim

If defendants had a counterclaim, Yount would have called the Mosaic executives to testify that Mosaic withdrew the loan offer not because of any action by Yount but because Criswell and Radovan failed to provide the information required for Mosaic’s due diligence. (21 App. 4975).

Sterling Johnson, Mosaic’s vice president of investments, would have testified that Radovan did not send promised documents and information. (21 App. 4975).

Howard Karawan, an advisor for Mosaic, would have clarified that Mosaic called the meeting with the three executive-committee members. (21 App. 4975). And Ethan Penner, Mosaic’s managing partner, would have explained that he led the meeting and expressed frustration with Radovan and the lack of communication. (21 App. 4975).

Judge Walker Questions the Efficiency of One District Judge Correcting the Error of Another

Judge Egan Walker, who was appointed to undertake Judge Flanagan’s department, presided over post-judgment motions. He openly questioned whether a district judge should correct the improper rulings of the prior judge in this complex case. He pondered the efficacy of asking a successor judge “to act as a intermediate court of appeals.” (20 App. 4832:6–7.) Judge Walker determined that the less he did the better.

I began where I’m going to say again, I think we should end, which is the less I do right now, the better. If and until the Supreme Court acts, I believe all I’m going to do is build in layer upon layer upon layer

(20 App.4859:5–8.)

***Judge Walker Agrees that the Damages are Speculative
but Disclaims Jurisdiction to Correct the Judgment***

Judge Walker expressed discomfort in Judge Flanagan’s damages findings:

But I can’t say, from my own independent review, how Judge Flanagan got to 1.5, 1.5, 1.5. And the record doesn’t reveal it. And I know the Supreme Court is going to say the same thing . . . So I can’t say that I have any confidence—and please, Judge Flanagan forgive me. But I just can’t say I have any confidence about how he got where he got. And that is troublesome to me.

(20 App. 4848:21–24; 4849:18–24.) Judge Walker noted that no evidence supported the \$1.5 million award:

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