1	Martin A. Little (#7067) Ryan T. O'Malley (#12461)			
2	HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS PLLC 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 100			
3	Las Vegas, NV 89169 Telephone: (702) 257-1483	Electronically Filed Jul 11 2019 05:30 p.m.		
4	Facsimile: (702) 567-1568 E-Mail: mal@h2law.com; rto@h2law.co	Elizabeth A. Brown		
5	Attorneys for Respondents Criswell Radov CR Cal Neva, LLC; Robert Radovan; Will and Powell, Coleman and Arnold LLP	van, LLC; Clerk of Supreme Court iam Criswell;		
6				
7	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA			
8	GEORGE STUART YOUNT, Individually			
9	and in his Capacity as Owner of GEORGE STUART YOUNT IRA,	Case No. 74275

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

Leroy Holding illustrates this principle. The case was an adversarial bankruptcy proceeding in which the plaintiff creditor neglected to plead a claim pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362(h) for monies that the debtor had paid to the defendant creditor after the filing of a bankruptcy petition. The parties

nevertheless introduced stipulated evidence of the payments, and the plaintiff creditor brought a post-trial motion to amend the pleadings under Rule 15(b). The district court granted the motion and rejected the defendant creditor's prejudice arguments:

[The defendant] also contests the motion on the ground that it will be prejudiced if it is granted. [The defendant] states that if it had known that these funds could be ordered returned to the [debtor's] bankruptcy estate, it would have negotiated a different settlement of its bankruptcy claim . . . . [this contention] of prejudice, however, relate[s] not to the evidence admitted at trial but to its possible legal effect.

226 B.R. at 759 (emphasis added). So long as both parties were able to present evidence relevant to the unpled claim, there was no unfair prejudice; the fact that a Rule 15(b) amendment may impact the legal effect of that evidence was irrelevant. *Id.*, *see also See D. Federico Co.*, 723 F.2d at 126 ("The fact [an unpleaded claim] involves a change in the nature of the cause of action, or the legal theory of the action, is immaterial so long as the opposing party has not been prejudiced in presenting its case.").

Here, Yount has not been prejudiced in presenting his case regarding his interference with the Mosaic Loan. He stipulated to the admissibility of numerous documents, testified at length on the issue himself, and presented a witness whose testimony was entirely devoted to interference. In short, he litigated the issue fully. Judge Flanagan's ruling granting relief to the CR Respondents based on this

record "related not to the evidence at trial, but to its . . . legal effect." *Leroy Holding*, 226 B.R. 759.

Yount's suggestion that he would have presented even *more* witnesses on had an express counterclaim been pled is spurious. Yount was presumably aware of the identities of these witnesses before trial; nevertheless, he chose not to depose them or call them to testify. He instead relied upon Chaney, who Judge Flanagan found to be completely lacking in credibility. Whether Yount's other alleged witnesses would have fared any better (or even testified as Yount claims<sup>16</sup>) is unclear.

Yount knew that Mosaic's withdrawal from the Project was a major issue, and he knew that those Mosaic executives were apparently available to testify about the reason for that withdrawal. Yount is a wealthy man, and he claimed over a million dollars in compensatory and punitive damages. Yount's suggestion that he did not depose or present three important witnesses due to cost concerns and a desire to mount only a proportional defense is, frankly, absurd. The Court should disregard it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Yount's claims regarding the supposed testimony of the three Mosaic executives are bare assertions completely unsupported by the record, and the Court should disregard them on that basis alone.

# D. Yount's Cited Nevada Authorities Support CR's Argument

The various Nevada authorities that Yount cites in his brief support the CR Respondents' argument, not Yount's. He is right that there is no implied consent where a party objects or a party lacked notice of the issue, but neither of those things are true here.

Yount correctly describes *Klabacka v. Nelson*, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 24, 394 P.3d 940 (2017) as a case that "reversed a judgment based upon implied consent where the defendant had *moved to dismiss that claim*, demonstrating an objection to the admission of evidence on the issue." (Opening Br. at 39.) But Yount did not move to dismiss any of the CR Respondents' claims or defenses, nor did he object to the introduction of damages evidence during trial. The rationale in *Klabacka* therefore does not apply here.

Similarly, *Ivory Ranch v. Quinn River Ranch*, 101 Nev. 471, 473, 705 P.2d 673, 675 (1985) rejected an implied consent argument "when the issue was not raised in the pleadings or the trial statements, and the district court did not notify the parties that it was considering the issue." (Opening Br. at 39.) Here, the CR Respondents *did* raise Yount's interference with the Mosaic Loan in their pretrial statement, as well as in their proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. More importantly, *Ivory Ranch* involved a case in which one of the parties "was deprived of reasonable, prior notice of [the] particular issue and was denied the opportunity to develop facts and confront the issue." 101 Nev. at 473, 705 P.2d at

675. Here, Yount's interference with the Mosaic Loan was a central issue in the case from the outset, the relevant facts were developed through discovery, and Yount presented documents and witnesses squarely related to the issue during trial.

On the other hand, *Poe v. La Metropolitana Compania Nacional De Seguros*, *S.A.*, 76 Nev. 306, 309, 353 P.2d 454, 456 (1960). affirmed a finding of trial by consent where "[1] the defendant had raised the issues in his opening argument, [2] counsel for plaintiff had specifically referred to the matter as an issue in the case, [3] it had been explored in discovery, and [4] there was no objection to the admission of evidence relevant to the issue at trial." (Opening Br. at 39–40.) These factors from *Poe* track the facts here:

- 1. Although the parties waived opening arguments in the bench trial below, all parties' pretrial statements raised Yount's interference with the Mosaic Loan as an issue in the case;
- 2. Yount's offered testimony denying his interference with the Mosaic Loan, presented a witness whose testimony was exclusively related to the interference issue, and stipulated to the admissibility of numerous documents related to Yount's interference;
- Yount's interference with the Mosaic Loan was explored in discovery, including lengthy questioning related to the issue in his own deposition; and

4. Yount did not object to the admission of the evidence related to his interference with the Mosaic Loan.

In short, Judge Flanagan's ruling in the district court was fully consistent with the *Klabacka*, *Ivory Ranch* and *Poe* decisions.

### E. CR Did Not Disclaim a Right to Damages

Yount's disclaimer argument is based upon highly selective quotations from the record and the exclusion of sentences providing vital context. A full view of the record shows that CR did not disclaim a right to damages; rather, CR *emphasized* the evidence of damages in the record. (In this subsection, excerpts omitted from the quotations in Yount's Opening Brief are italicized.)

Yount first quotes Radovan as stating, on cross examination, that he had not asserted a "compulsory counterclaim." However, Yount's quotation omits the preceding question and answer, in which Radovan states that Yount caused CR millions of dollars' worth of damages:

- Q. And you're claiming that somehow Mr. Yount and the IMC are responsible for you and Mr. Criswell losing millions of dollars, correct?
- A. Given that loan being tanked, that is -- I'm just talking about what it's cost us. The rest of the investor group, that could -- you know, we'll see where that ends up, but it's a substantial, substantial amount.
- Q. Did you file a compulsory counterclaim against Mr. Yount from his lawsuit?

A. No.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

(7 App. 1668.; emphasis added.) Similarly, Yount's brief quotes CR's closing argument out of context by omitting a discussion of the damages caused by Yount's interference:

> [MR. LITTLE:] And, your Honor, importantly, we pled —we haven't sued him for a counterclaim, but we have pled affirmative defenses and whether you call it—

THE COURT: Unclean hands.

LITTLE: Unclean hands, MR. estoppel, contributory fault, it's all the same failure to mitigate damages, all roads lead to the same path. He put himself in the position he is now. He not only caused himself to lose potentially this \$1 million, he's cost CR Cal Neva over \$2 million in damages. More importantly, he's caused all of these investors to be in the position they're at now.

(9 App. 2210–11; emphasis added.) Again, an acknowledgement that the pleadings do not contain a counterclaim was tightly bound to a discussion of the damages Yount caused. These statements do not disclaim an implied counterclaim; they *emphasize* the facts supporting the implied claim.

# F. Conclusion—Yount Tried Interference By Consent

If Yount believed that evidence related to the Mosaic loan was "ancillary," as he now argues on appeal, he presumably would have moved in limine to exclude that evidence, or at the very least would have objected orally at trial when the issue was raised repeatedly. Yount did not believe the issue to be ancillary, however; he made it a centerpiece of his case, offering extensive evidence and testimony pointing the finger at Criswell Radovan and explaining away his own

involvement. The strategy backfired, but the issue was nevertheless tried by consent. Yount cannot rescind that consent because he is dissatisfied by the outcome.

# II. JUDGE FLANAGAN'S RULING WAS PROPER UNDER THE RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

Because Yount's interference with the Mosaic loan was tried by consent, the CR Respondents were not required to make an NRCP 15(b) motion to conform the pleadings to the evidence. Even if they were so-required, such a motion can be made at any time, including after remand. Such a motion would be granted because good cause exists for amendment.

# A. Under, Rule 15(b) Parties are Not Required to Amend Their Pleadings When Issues are Tried by Consent

NRCP 15(b) provides that "failure to . . . amend does not affect the result of the trial on th[o]se issues" tried by consent, and that a motion to amend "may" be made but is not required. Yount's argument that the lack of an NRCP 15(a) prevented the judgment here is therefore simply wrong. "If an issue, though never actually pleaded, is tried by express or implied consent of the parties, *the pleadings may be deemed amended to conform, even after judgment or on appeal*." *Francois v. Francois*, 599 F.2d 1286, 1294 n.5 (3d Cir. 1979) (emphasis added; applying identical Federal Rule); *cited with approval in* Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1493 (entitled "Issues Not Raised by Pleadings But Tried by Consent—In General"). Because

Yount's interference with the Mosaic loan was tried by consent,<sup>17</sup> the district court could have simply deemed the CR Respondents' Answer to include a counterclaim for interference with a contract, interference with a business expectancy, or any other appropriate claim—no motion was necessary. *Francois*, 599 F.2d at 1294 n.5; *see also Thompson v. Brown*, 633 S.W.2d 382, 384 (Ark. Ct. App. 1982) (applying identical Arkansas Rule, ordering amendment of judgment on remand to reflect issue tried by consent in absence of motion).

# B. Even if a Motion were Required, it Could be Made on Remand

NRCP 15(b)'s provision stating that pleadings may be amended "may be made upon motion of any party at any time even after judgment" is not foreclosed by an appeal. "[T]he pleadings may be amended to include issues tried by consent, either by motion or through the judgment of the court, *at any time, even on remand following an appeal.*" *Marsh Inv. Corp. v. Langford*, 620 F. Supp. 880, 883 (E.D. La. 1985) (applying identical Federal Rule), *aff'd*, 784 F.2d 184 (5th Cir. 1986). Thus, if a motion to amend the pleadings were required, <sup>18</sup> the issue could simply be remedied by a motion following remand to the district court. *Id., see also Ostano Commerzanstalt v. Telewide Sys., Inc.,* 880 F.2d 642, 646 (2d.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See supra section I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The quoted language from *Langford* reiterates the principle that a court may simply amend the pleadings "through judgment of the court" without a motion. 620 F. Supp. at 883. Nevertheless, it also correctly states that a motion may be brought after remand if necessary. *Id*.

Cir. 1989) (affirming district court's grant of motion to add party to conform to the judgment after remand from appeal)"

# C. Alternatively, Judge Flanagan Could Have Converted the CR Respondents' Affirmative Defense as a Counterclaim

Even if simple trial by consent did not apply to this case, the district court could have converted the CR Respondents' counterclaim for unclean hands into a counterclaim for tortious interference with a prospective economic advantage.

NRCP 8(c) provides that, "if a party mistakenly designates a defense as a counterclaim, or a counterclaim as a defense, the court must, if justice requires, treat the pleading as though it were correctly designated, and may impose terms for doing so." This does more than offer broad discretion for a district court to convert counterclaims; rather, it is mandatory, and courts have broad discretion in recasting claims in the interest of justice. *See, e.g., Dennison Mfg. Co. v. Ben Clements & Sons, Inc.*, 467 F. Supp. 391, 399 (S.D.N.Y. 1979); *cf. Longley v. Heers Bros., Inc.*, 86 Nev. 599, 603–04, 472 P.2d 350, 353 (1970) (converting counterclaim into affirmative defense where justice so-requires).

Yount's interference with the Mosaic Loan is the same conduct raised by the CR Respondents' unclean hands defense. Converting the same conduct into a reasonable counterclaim was well within the district court's discretion under NRCP 8(c).

2

3

4

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

# D. NRCP 54(c) Provides an Additional Basis for Relief

NRCP 54(c) provides: "[e]very other final judgment [besides default judgments] should grant the relief to which each party is entitled, even if the party has not demanded that relief in its pleadings." "The Nevada Supreme Court recognized the liberal nature of NRCP 54(c) by confirming 'Under the liberalized rules of pleading,' a final judgment must grant the relief a party is entitled to, even where the prayer for relief did not ask for such relief." Magill v. Lewis, 74 Nev. 381, 387 88, 333 P.2d 717, 720 (1958). *Magill* recognized that Rule 54(c) "implements the general principle of Rule 15(c), that in a contested case a judgment is to be based on what has been proved rather than what has been pleaded." Magill, 74 Nev. at 388; see also Grouse Creek Ranches v. Budget Fin. Corp., 87 Nev. 419, 427, 488 P.2d 917, 923 (1971) (NRCP 54(c) authorized the district court to amend the pleadings to grant a primary lien where the objecting party joined issue on the matter and suffered no prejudice); Rental Dev. Corp. of Am. v. Lavery, 304 F.2d 839, 842 (9th Cir. 1962) (finding no prejudice to defendant lessor as a result of plaintiff lessee's failure to include a request for cancellation of the lease in plaintiff's complaint since it was permissible for the Court to order cancellation of the lease based on the issues framed by the pleadings and trial proceedings).

2728

# III. YOUNT'S LIABILITY FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE WAS ESTABLISHED IN THE DISTRICT COURT

Near the end of his two-hour oral ruling, Judge Flannagan stated that "but for the *intentional interference with the contractual relations* between Mosaic and Cal Neva LLC, [the] [P]roject would have succeeded." (10 App. 2295; emphasis added.) Yount seizes on this characterization of the court's ruling to raise various claims of error, including: (1) the lack of a contract between Cal Neva, LLC and Mosaic; (2) a lack of standing for the CR Respondents; and (3) an alleged lack of overt actions by Yount to disrupt the Mosaic Loan.

A fair reading of Judge Flanagan's ruling makes clear that his ruling was based upon tortious interference with a prospective economic advantage, not an existing contract. The lack of a contract is therefore irrelevant, and Yount's arguments regarding standing are inapplicable. The record below supports Judge Flanagan's factual findings regarding interference with the Mosaic loan. The Court should reject Yount's arguments.

# E. Judge Flanagan's Ruling Was Based Upon Tortious Interference with a Prospective Economic Advantage, Not Interference With Contractual Relations

Tortious interference with contractual relations and interference with prospective economic advantage<sup>19</sup> are closely related torts, but they are not the

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